IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TIMOTHY SEAN CRAFT

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2009-CA-00204

DONNA GAYLE COOPER CRAFT

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF JONES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT CAUSE NO. 2005-0032E

THE HONORABLE FRANKLIN C. MCKENZIE, JR., CHANCELLOR, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

CAVES & CAVES, PLLC
TERRY L. CAVES, MSB
Attorneys at Law
Post Office Drawer 167
Laurel, MS 39441-0167
Telephone 601-428-0402
Facsimile 601-428-0452

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TIMOTHY SEAN CRAFT

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2009-CA-00204

DONNA GAYLE COOPER CRAFT

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. The Chancellor erred in awarding alimony.
- 2. The Chancellor erred in awarding attorney's fees.
- 3. The Chancellor erred in restricting Tim Craft's visitation to an hour and one-half one day per week in the office of the Department of Human Services in Laurel, Mississippi.
- 4. The Chancellor erred in refusing to find Donna Craft in contempt of court for her willful and malicious interference with Tim Craft's visitation with their children.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

Tim Craft filed his Complaint for Divorce on February 22, 2005. The Chancellor entered temporary orders in this case on April 22, 2005, December 8, 2005, June 23, 2006, and December 5, 2006. (CP 85, 124, 131, 144, 154)¹ The Court conducted three days of trial on August 22, 2006, September 6, 2006, and October 11, 2006.

On November 2, 2006, the Chancellor entered his Final Judgment granting a divorce and taking under advisement all other issues. (CP 115) (RE 8) The issues before the Court consisted of custody and visitation, claiming the parties' children as dependents on tax returns, child support, medical expenses for the children, equitable division of property, equitable division of debt, alimony, and attorney's fees.

On June 5, 2006, the Chancellor granted joint legal custody of the parties minor children namely, Sean Craft, Alayna Craft, and Lance Craft. (RE 5-6) The Chancellor also awarded Tim Craft full visitation with his children. (CP 85-86) From June 5, 2006 until October 18, 2007, Tim had joint legal custody and full visitation with his children and with the Court ordering that he have telephone contact with the children each and every night. In addition, the grandparents were awarded the right to have reasonable telephone contact with their three grandchildren. (CP 86) (RE 5-6)

On October 18, 2007, Donna filed her Motion to Reopen Evidence. On November 6, 2007, Tim filed his Motion for Contempt of Court asserting that Donna violated the temporary

References to (RE__) are references within the record excerpts; references to (Ex.__) are references to exhibits within the records; references to (CP__) are references to the clerk's papers.

orders, refused visitation, refused telephone contact, refused to allow holiday visitation and asked the Court to modify the temporary order to reduce his child support obligation. The Court entered a Temporary Order on November 14, 2007 denying Tim visitation on a temporary basis and limiting his visitation with his children to only an hour and one half on Fridays at the Department of Human Services in Laurel, Mississippi. (CP 144) (RE 13) The Court even restricted the visitation of the grandparents, Ralph and Cecile Craft, to the same time period. (CP 144) The Court left Tim with only an hour and one-half of visitation once per week with his children.

Tim filed his motion for the Court to reopen the evidence on March 7, 2007. A hearing was conducted with the Court entering its Order on March 21, 2007. In said order the Court agreed to take into consideration additional evidence that was presented at the hearing on March 7, 2007. (RE 11-12) The Court had this case under advisement for 16 months from November, 2006 and then an additional 12 months from the March 7, 2007 hearing on Tim's Motion to Reopen the Evidence.

The Court entered another Temporary Order on April 11, 2008 and did not address all of the issues that the Court had taken under advisement. The Court only addressed the issues raised in the Motions to Reopen and Motions for Contempt. (CP 154-156) Tim filed his Motion for the court to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law and to enter a Final Judgment. (CP 162-166) Tim filed his MRAP 15(a) Notice with the Administration of Courts and attached thereto his proposed Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law and Final Judgment of Divorce. (CP 176) A copy was mailed to all attorneys of record and the Chancellor on October 18, 2008.

The Chancellor entered his Final Judgment on January 8, 2009. Tim filed his Motion for Reconsideration for a New Trial, or to Alter and Amend Judgment on January 14, 2009. The Chancellor denied Tim's motion and entered his Order on January 21, 2009. (CP 207) (RE 19)

On January 22, 2009, the Court entered his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CP 208-213) (RE 20-25) Tim timely filed his Notice of Appeal with this Court on February 3, 2009. (CP 214)

B. Statement of Facts

Tim and Donna Craft were married on June 21, 1991. (T. 111) They separated on December 28, 2004 when Donna cleaned out the house and hid the children from Tim. (T. 111) During the marriage, three children were born namely, Sean Craft, whose date of birth is March 3, 1993, Alayna Craft, whose date of birth is December 31, 1994, and Lance Craft, whose date of birth is August 14, 1997. (T. 112-113) Both parties are in good health and the children are in good health. (T. 112, 258) Tim was born on November 10, 1964. (T. 111) Donna was 35 years of age at the time of trial. (T. 243)

Both parties during the marriage served in some capacity in the Navy and/or Naval Reserve. (T. 117-119, 261-263) At the time of the divorce hearing, Tim was employed with B. J. Services and was earning an income as reflected on his 8.05 Financial Statement. (T. 115, Ex. 4) Donna was employed at Jones County Junior College as a secretary and her earnings are also reflected on her 8.05 Financial Statement. (Ex. 5)

During the early years of their marriage, the parties resided in Hattiesburg, Mississippi. They moved to Laurel for one year and then moved to Brandon, Mississippi for 15 months. (T. 116-119) The parties lived in Texas and finally settled in Moselle, Mississippi where they built their home. Tim was a good father to his children. He was very involved with his children and their activities from the time they were born until the separation in December, 2004. (T. 117-119) He enjoyed a wonderful relationship with his children prior to the separation. (T. 124)

Ralph and Cecile Craft were the paternal grandparents to the three children. The Crafts were heavily involved in the rearing of the three children. Cecile Craft babysat and spent time

with the children approximately two to three days per week while the children lived in Hattiesburg and Laurel. (T. 76-79) Ralph and Cecile also kept the children every other week during the summer months. (T. 79) Cecile helped carry the children to the doctor and provided substantial assistance both physically and financially for the children prior to the separation. (T. 78-80) Ralph and Cecile kept the children while Tim and Donna were on their weekend Naval Reserve duty. (T. 83) In addition to spending substantial time with the children, Ralph and Cecile provided substantial financial support. They paid off Tim and Donna's loan at Hancock Bank. (T. 86) They loaned thousands of dollars to Tim and Donna to help them with their bills. (T. 101-104, Ex. 7)

On June 23, 2006, the Chancellor entered his Temporary Order granting Tim Craft joint legal custody and full visitation with his three children and every other week in the summer. He granted full telephone contact by Tim with the children every evening. (CP. 85-86)

However, circumstances abruptly changed when Donna filed her Motion to Reopen Evidence on October 22, 2007. (CP 133-136) Tim was arrested on October 5, 2007 and charged with child exploitation arising from an alleged incident that occurred on July 21, 2006. Tim was accused of sexual battery of a child whose mother was Lola Hulsey. Lola Hulsey pled guilty to child exploitation of her own daughter. Tim has denied these charges and has never been convicted. Tim admits that he wrote a fabricated statement while under the influence of intoxication and prescription medication related to these charges. There is absolutely no other evidence of any wrongdoing by Tim.

On March 7, 2007, the Chancellor heard the testimony of Tim relating to the statement that he wrote on July 21, 2006 and based solely on this information, restricted Tim's visitation to an hour and one-half one time per week at the Department of Human Services in Laurel, Mississippi. Tim denied that the statements in the handwritten note were true. The Chancellor

refused to allow the children to see their grandparents, Ralph and Cecile Craft, except for the same time period.

During the time frame from July 21, 2006 to October, 2007 (15 months), Tim had full visitation with his children. Donna Craft admitted that Tim was a good father. (T. 263-274)

There is no dispute that Tim Craft was a good father. Donna admitted that Tim substantially participated in the rearing of the three children. She admitted he kept the children while she was gone on Naval Reserve training. He kept the children for two months when she was mobilized, and he kept the kids while she was in Colorado. (T. 264) She admitted he was involved in all aspects of the children's activities. (T. 265-268) She admitted that Tim never abused the children, and the Court found there was no evidence of any abuse by Tim Craft of the three children. (T. 268-269) She admitted the children loved their father and that the grandparents, Ralph and Cecile Craft, were good people and loved their grandchildren. (T. 269-270) She admitted that the children spent substantial amounts of time with Ralph and Cecile Craft. (T. 269-270) All of Donna Craft's testimony about Tim's good parenting skills and his good relationship with his children was elicited on October 11, 2006, which was three months after the alleged incident giving rise to Tim's charges.

Although the Court stipulated that Tim never abused his children and all of the evidence was undisputed that Tim was a wonderful father, the Court restricted his visitation to an hour and a half with the Department of Human Services in Laurel, Mississippi. (T. 268-269)

With regard to the award of alimony by the Chancellor, he devoted one sentence to the alimony issue by stating: "on the issue of permanent alimony, the Court awards Donna \$100.00 per month in periodic alimony." (CP 212) (RE 24) With regard to the award of attorney's fees, the Court devoted one sentence to the attorney's fees issue by stating: "Donna is also awarded her attorney's fees as submitted by her attorney." (CP 213) (RE 24-25)

Before addressing alimony, the Court did not address or consider the *Ferguson* and *Hemsley* factors, the division of property, nor the debt of the parties. Although the parties stipulated that each party would keep the property in their possession, the Court did not consider the property nor the value of the property before determining whether alimony was needed. In addition, the Court never considered or mentioned the substantial debt incurred by the parties nor did he divide any of the parties' marital debt. None of the *Armstrong* factors or the *McKee* factors were addressed or even mentioned by the Chancellor in awarding alimony and attorney's fees.

The Court failed to consider Donna's willful and contumacious contempt in interfering and denying Tim visitation and telephone contact with his children. Tim was required to file numerous motions for contempt and for enforcement of his visitation privileges. (CP 116-118, 126-128, T. 384-386) Although Tim voluntarily provided the children with a cell phone, Donna persistently refused to allow them to talk to their father. (T. 384-388)

Although the Court heard no evidence of Tim's mistreatment of his children and even though the evidence was undisputed that Tim was a good father, the Court severely restricted his visitation. (T. 269) The Court also heard testimony from two of the children that were over the age of 12, Sean Craft and Alayna Craft. Both Sean and Alayna testified that they wanted to live with their father who was asking for physical custody. (T. 20-21, 43) Sean and Alayna testified again on March 7, 2007 and again expressed their preference to live with their father. (T. 350, 366-370) Sean corroborated that his mother had refused to allow them to talk on the telephone with their father. (T. 367) The children desperately want to spend time with their father. (T. 20-24)

Tim also requested that he be allowed to claim the children as a dependent on his income tax returns. (T. 145) The Chancellor never commented or considered this request for relief.

C. Summary of the Argument

The Chancellor erred in awarding Donna Craft alimony in this case. The Chancellor did not take the initial step of making an equitable division of debt nor did he take the stipulation of property division into consideration. The Chancellor should have addressed the debt and property division before reaching the issue of alimony. In considering alimony, the Chancellor never considered any of the facts or the factors set forth in *Armstrong v. Armstrong*, 618 So.2d 1278 (Miss. 1993).

The Chancellor erred in awarding attorney's fees to Donna Craft in the sum of \$22, 297.00. The Chancellor's award of attorney's fees was not supported by any testimony addressing the *McKee* factors. Donna's itemization of attorney's fees, which consisted of 33 pages, was not produced until the last day of trial. Tim's attorney was not given an opportunity to cross-examine the information contained within the attorney's fee statement. Donna had the ability to pay attorney's fees as evidenced by her payment of \$12,202.85.

The Chancellor erred in restricting Tim Craft's visitation with his children to an hour and a half per week at the office of the Department of Human Services in Laurel, Mississippi. The record is devoid of any conduct by Tim Craft toward his children that adversely impacts their welfare or could remotely be considered to be dangerous to the children.

The Chancellor should have found Donna Craft in contempt for interfering with Tim Craft's visitation with his children. Donna's refusal to allow the children to talk to Tim on the telephone and hiding the children so that Tim could not see his children should not be condoned.

D. Legal Argument

1. The Chancellor erred in awarding alimony.

In Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994), the Supreme Court recited the principle that spousal support should be considered only after division of marital property. The

Chancellor should first consider the parties' marital property and marital debt before addressing any award of alimony. *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994), *Marsh v. Marsh*, 868 So.2d 394, 398 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). The Chancellor is required to identify marital property and marital debt, value marital property and marital debt and effectuate an equitable division of marital property and marital debt all before even considering any request for alimony.

In this case, the Chancellor never commented upon or considered the marital property, marital debt and the value of those items. The parties submitted their Rule 8.05 Financial Statements. (Ex. 4, 5) Although the parties stipulated that each party would maintain ownership of the property in their possession, the testimony revealed there was substantial debt and the value of the property was never considered. (T. 161)

The Mississippi Supreme Court has instructed Chancellor's to support their financial award with findings of fact tied to the specific factors set forth in *Armstrong v. Armstrong*, 618 So.2d 1278 (Miss. 1993). Failure to provide an on-the-record discussion of the factors governing permanent alimony is manifest error. *Henderson v. Henderson*, 703 So.2d 262, 266 (Miss. 1997).

In *Henderson v. Henderson*, 703 So.2d 262, the Court emphasized that all property division, lump sum or periodic alimony payments, and obligations for child support should be considered together.

Since the Court did not discuss any of the *Ferguson*, *Hemsley*, and *Johnson* factors with regard to marital property and marital debt and did not mention or consider any of the alimony factors set forth in *Armstrong*, Tim is unable to determine how the Court arrived at an alimony award of \$100.00 per month in this case.

There are several factors that must be considered in determining the proprietary of an alimony award:

- 1. The income and expenses of the parties;
- 2. The health and earning capacity of the parties;
- 3. The needs of each party;
- 4. The obligations and assets of each party;
- 5. The length of the marriage;
- 6. The presences or absences of the minor children in the home;
- 7. The age of the parties;
- 8. The standard of living of the parties;
- 9. The tax consequences of spousal support;
- 10. Fault or misconduct;
- 11. Wasteful dissipation of assets;
- 12. Any other factor bearing unjustness and equity.

Armstrong v. Armstrong, 618 So. 1278, 1280 (Miss. 1993). Where the division of marital assets in conjunction with nonmarital assets will adequately provide for a party, alimony need not be awarded. *Johnson v. Johnson*, 650 So.2d 1281, 1287 (Miss. 1994).

The last day of the trial of this divorce action occurred on October 11, 2006. At that time, Tim's 8.05 Financial Statement was admitted into evidence as Exhibit 4. At the time of the trial, Tim's net monthly pay was \$3,622.00 (Ex. 4) However, on March 4, 2008, at a hearing on the parties' motion to reopen the evidence, Tim's undisputed net monthly pay was \$1,000.00 per month. Tim lost his previous job. Tim's expenses had not changed since the last day of trial and reflected total monthly expenses of \$3,205.70. Tim's net monthly loss is \$2,205.70. (Ex. 4, T. 489)

Tim currently has no benefits from his employer as he did when he testified on the last day of the trial nor does he have any medical insurance. Tim has made significant efforts to try to find a better job. (T. 490-492) Tim brought to the Court's attention the material difference in his income that he was earning on the last day of trial on October 6, 2006 and at the hearing on March 4, 2008. However, the Court never considered any of this evidence when he entered his opinion. (CP. 208, T. 492-494) Tim further testified about his lack of assets to pay support. (T. 494)

When Tim deducts the child support as ordered by the Court in the amount of \$243.00, he is only left with \$757.00 a month to pay bills. (CP. 195) His monthly bills are \$3,205.70. Since the Court made no analysis of any of the financial facts in this case, an award of \$100.00 per month alimony taking into consideration Tim's income, expenses, debt, and child support award together with his responsibility for one-half of the medical expenses appears on its face to be unreasonable and manifestly erroneous. Both parties are in good health and the children are in good health. (T. 112, 258)

Each party has his or her respective financial needs as set forth in the Rule 8.05's. (Ex. 4, 5) Otherwise, no special needs are apparent by either party. The parties had substantial debts that were incurred during the marriage. Tim had debts totaling approximately \$65,941.00 as reflected on his 8.05. (Ex. 4) The debts listed on Donna's 8.05 Financial Statement totaled \$42,178.00. Tim's monthly obligations on his debts alone totaled \$540.00 using the minimum payments. After paying his child support of \$243.00 a month and his minimum debt payments of \$540.00 per month, Tim was left with only \$217.00 a month to provide for his own financial support. (1000 - 243 - 540 = 217)

The parties were married for 15 years. Donna was awarded physical custody of the parties' three minor children and Tim was only awarded an hour and a half of visitation restricted and supervised by the Department of Human Services once per week. Although 22% of Tim's income was \$220.00 per month, the Court ordered Tim to pay \$243.00 per month for child support without any explanation of how he arrived at that figure. (CP 197)

Tim was 42 years of age at the time of the divorce trial. (T. 111) Donna was 35 years of age at the time of the divorce trial. (T. 243)

The record reveals that the parties, both before and after the marriage, maintained a very low standard of living. The tax consequences of the Court's alimony award was not addressed by the Chancellor.

Donna was granted a divorce on the statutory grounds of adultery. Although the Court granted Donna the divorce, the Court never considered Donna's admission of committing adultery and other sexual encounters with females. Both parties were at fault in causing the demise of the marriage. (T. 245-250)

Donna cleaned out the house except for a few items of furniture while Tim was out of town. The record does not reflect any other factors used to determine the Chancellor's award in this case.

Based upon the evidence set forth above, the Chancellor should not have awarded alimony in this case. This Court should reverse and render the Chancellor's award of alimony. In the alternative, this Court should reverse and remand the alimony award for the Chancellor to make specific findings of fact with regard to the factors set forth in *Ferguson, Hemsley, Armstrong*, and *Johnson*.

2. The Chancellor erred in awarding attorney's fees.

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