### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TIMOTHY SEAN CRAFT

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

NO. 2009-CA-00204

DONNA GAYLE COOPER CRAFT

**APPELLEE** 

#### APPELLEE'S BRIEF

### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Timothy S. Craft, Appellant
- 2. Donna G. Craft, Appellee
- 3. Honorable Franklin C. McKenzie, Jr., Chancellor Chancery Court of Jones County
  Nineteenth Chancery Court District

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. The chancellor did not err in awarding alimony. The parties stipulated to a division of marital property precluding the chancellor from making the usual Ferguson findings before considering an award of alimony and the testimony of the parties and the evidence presented at the trial on the merits sufficiently covered the information necessary for a consideration of the Armstrong factors for the chancellor to make his decision to award alimony.
- 2. The chancellor did not err in awarding attorney's fees. The testimony of the parties and the evidence submitted during the trial on the merits sufficiently covered the McKee factors required to be considered by the chancellor prior to making an award of attorney's fees.
- 3. The chancellor did not err in restricting Appellant's visitation. The testimony of the parties and the evidence submitted during the pendency of this matter was sufficient to convince the chancellor, due to Appellant's readily-apparent moral turpitude during and after the marriage; Appellant's conduct during the pendency of this matter and the unresolved serious circumstances surrounding Appellant's arrests and charges, that it was not in the best interest of the children for the Appellant to have unfettered, unsupervised visitation with the minor children at this time.

4. The chancellor did not err in refusing to find Appellee in contempt of court. The numerous motions filed and hearings held during the pendency of this matter gave the chancellor several opportunities to hear the testimony of the parties and see the evidence submitted regarding Appellant's allegations of contempt and the chancellor correctly found the Appellee not in contempt.

## **ARGUMENT**

Issue 1. The chancellor did not err in awarding alimony.

## Rule of Law

The scope of review of an alimony award is familiar and well-settled. Alimony awards are within the discretion of the chancellor and his discretion will not be reversed on appeal unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong or abused his discretion. *Armstrong v. Armstrong*, 618 So.2d 1278, 1280 (Miss. 1993); citing *McEachern v. McEachern*, 605 So.2d 809, 814 (Miss. 1992); and *Voda v. Voda*, 731 So.2d 1152, 1154 (Miss. 1999).

When considering an award of alimony, the chancellor is to consider the following factors: income and expenses of the parties; health and earning capacities of the parties; needs of each party; obligations and assets of each party; length of the marriage; presence of minor children in the home; age of the parties; standard of living of the parties during the marriage and at support determination; tax consequences of the spousal support order; fault or misconduct; wasteful dissipation of assets by either party; and, any other equitable factors. When an award of alimony is appealed, we presume the chancellor considered all factors in making his decision. When the chancellor fails to address all factors on-the-record, we are not required to remand the case, and should not, so long as all facts are available to us so as to allow an equitable

determination to be made. Thus, a lack of an on-the-record consideration of the *Armstrong* factors by a chancellor in making his determination of the appropriateness of an alimony award will only be reversed if, after review of all facts and application of the *Armstrong* factors, it appears that the chancellor's failure to make findings of fact and corresponding conclusions of law constitutes manifest error. An appellant's claim under these facts will have merit only if the record lacked those facts that would allow this Court to determine if the award of alimony was inequitable. *Roberson v. Roberson*, 949 So.2d 866, 868-869 (Miss.Ct.App. 2007).

#### Relevant Facts

Tim alleges the chancellor is in error due to a failure to make an on-the-record recital of the *Armstrong* factors before awarding alimony to Donna and that this error mandates a reversal of the award.

During the trial on the merits Tim and Donna stipulated to a division of marital property, thereby precluding the court from having to make a determination of the status and value of property and precluding the court from having to equitably divide such property pursuant to the *Ferguson* factors (TR 161). *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994). There was evidence presented which gave the chancellor sufficient available information necessary to perform an evaluation of the *Armstrong* factors. This evidence, covering the testimony of ten (10) witnesses, including that from Sean Craft, the oldest child of the parties (TR 1-42, 365-378, 532-543), Alayna Craft, the daughter of the parties (TR 42-61, 350-365), Richard Moore, a coworker of the parties from their navy service (TR 61-69), Donna (TR 70-74, 242-339, 505-531), Tim (TR 74-75, 111-162, 172-242, 339-345, 384-398), Cecile Craft, mother of Tim (TR 75-100, 378-384, 428, 451-505, 543-555), Ralph Craft, father of Tim (TR 100-111), Bailey Cooper, father of Donna (TR 162-172), Becky Hehn, friend of and baby-sitter for Donna (TR 398-411),

and Kimberly Archer, latest girlfriend and most-recent wife of Tim (TR 442-451), covers some five-hundred, sixty-four (564) pages of the court record and discusses the factors of income and expenses of the parties (TR 9, 17, 54), (EX 4 (3/8/07), 5 (3/8/07), 4 (3/4/08)); health and earning capacities of the parties (TR 9, 10); needs of each party (TR 110-161, 243-336); obligations and assets of each party (TR 282, 281-300, 320-336); length of the marriage (TR 71, 74); presence of minor children in the home (TR 72, 74, 89); age of the parties (TR 110, 243); standard of living of the parties during the marriage and at support determination (TR 17, 84, 86, 89, 92, 93, 94, 95, 96, 102, 205, 282, 283, 317); tax consequences of the spousal support order (TR 501-502); fault or misconduct (TR 70, 72, 73, 74, 264-265, 300); wasteful dissipation of assets by either party (TR 107, 108, 150); and, other equitable factors (TR 93, 94, 102-110, 174, 205, 227, 282, 283).

The gist of the evidence is that, during the terminal years of the marriage, the family had a reasonably comfortable middle-class standard of living with Tim making upwards of ninety-thousand (\$90,000) dollars per year, and more. The parties bought a house and Donna was able to be a stay-at-home mother. The parties were both in good health and in their mid to late thirties or early forties; that Tim had a college degree and was working on a graduate level degree and has training and experience and the opportunity to secure a high-paying job as a petroleum engineer while Donna has been struggling to pay bills and feed the three children of the parties. The evidence showed that Donna now makes only about fourteen-hundred (\$1,400) dollars per month, has had to depend on assistance from family and her church to make ends meet and is having rummage sales and making loans to pay her bills and attorney fees. Tim alleges that he now is only able to secure a truck driving job which pays decidedly lower than he

was making while married to Donna. The evidence reveals that Tim is remarried and his latest wife does computer-related work and contributes considerably to his standard of living. Tim also has benefitted from the benevolence of his family in paying his bills for him prior to and during the pendency of this matter (TR 493, 494-495). The evidence also shows that the break-up of the marriage was the fault of Tim and that he dissipated presumptively marital property during the pendency of this matter.

Having this evidence at his disposal during the trial on the merits and the subsequent hearings, the chancellor was able to deliberate and evaluate the *Armstrong* factors and make a determination that Tim was in a much more favorable financial position than Donna, has the education and opportunity to secure a high-paying job and has more assets available to address his needs than she does. It also shows that Donna and the children have borne the financial brunt of the divorce and Tim's misconduct only with the assistance and benevolence of others while Tim continues to deny any responsibility. The chancellor's only error in awarding alimony to Donna was the small amount awarded and there is substantial credible evidence in the record to support the chancellor's determination. *Roberson*.

Issue 2. The chancellor did not err in awarding attorney's fees.

## Rule of Law

Factors to be considered in an award of attorney's fees include the relative financial ability of the parties; the skill and standing of the attorney employed; the nature of the case and novelty and difficulty of the questions at issue; the degree of responsibility involved in the

management of the cause; the time and labor required; the usual and customary charge in the community; and, the preclusion of other employment by the attorney due to the acceptance of the case. *McKee v. McKee*, 418 So.2d 764, 767 (Miss. 1982). In determining an appropriate amount of attorney's fees, a sum sufficient to secure one competent attorney is the criterion by which we are directed. *Rees v. Rees*, 194 So. 750 (Miss. 1940).

"We have consistently held that the chancellor has broad authority and discretion in setting appropriate attorney's fees and unless the chancellor is manifestly wrong we will not disturb his award of attorney's fees." Walters v. Walters, 383 So.2d 827, 828 (Miss. 1980). The trial court is the appropriate entity to award attorney's fees and costs. Therefore, a trial court's decision regarding attorney's fees will not be disturbed by an appellate court unless it is manifestly wrong. The word 'manifest', as defined in this context, means "unmistakable, clear, plain, or indisputable." The controlling factor is "what is reasonable". Unless we determine that the trial judge abused his discretion in the amount of attorney's fees assessed, we are duty-bound to affirm. Mabus v. Mabus, 910 So.2d 486, 488 (Miss. 2005). The failure to cite controlling authority in rendering an attorney's fees award is not grounds for reversal unless the failure to make sufficient findings of fact and conclusions of law constitutes manifest error. Pool v. Pool, 989 So.2d 920, 928 (Miss.Ct.App. 2008).

#### Relevant Facts

Tim alleges the chancellor erred in awarding attorney fees to Donna since the bills were not produced prior to trial; Donna's counsel did not record her own time; Donna was allegedly able to pay her own bills; Tim was in dire financial circumstances; and, the chancellor failed to make an on-the-record evaluation of the *McKee* factors and that failure is reversible error.

The chancellor had the opportunity to hear and evaluate the evidence identified in the relevant facts of Issue No. 1, which outlined evidence is included herein as if specifically set out, and which evidence also addresses the factors to be considered by a chancellor in a determination of the awarding of attorney fees and the chancellor was able to make a determination of the necessary factors. The evidence reveals that Tim was then, and is now, in a much more favorable economic situation than Donna and has the higher relative financial ability to pay the fees. Donna was able to pay some of the fees but she was able to do so only with the assistance of family, friends, her church and others (TR 165, 317-336, 520, 526). Although the matter is not specifically addressed, it is obvious that the chancellor is familiar with the counsel representing the parties. The Court's own records reveal that both counsel are in good standing, that Donna's counsel has been in practice since 1982 and Tim's counsel since 1983. This case has spanned a period of nearly five years to date (TR 580), four years of which Donna's counsel was involved in, has been very contentious, and has involved considerable work, preparation and appearances by counsel for both parties.

Donna's counsel operates a sole-practitioner office while Tim's counsel operates out of a family-founded practice. Besides the initial pleadings, Tim has filed numerous motions alleging numerous issues to be researched and addressed by Donna's counsel and also included numerous extra appearances in court to respond to and address those motions and issues. Donna's counsel's participation in this matter has spanned over four years and numerous hours of work and preparation, which considerable work and preparation on this matter obviously must have precluded her participation in other matters.

The chancellor discussed the attorney's fee bill and the parties' relative ability to pay bills on the record (TR 323, 325, 327, 328, 336, 506-520, 563-564), and the parties themselves discussed different parts of the relative attorney's fees bills submitted by Donna's counsel (TR 317-336, 563-564), (EX 13 (3/8/07), and 6 (3/4/08)), spanning thirty-nine (39) pages and a period from February 2, 2005, through February of 2008, and list nothing for any work done after that date even though the parties appeared before the court several times afterwards. The amount of fees assessed, in excess of twenty-two thousand dollars, covering a period of over four years, equals just over five-thousand dollars average per year. Tim's counsel himself stated on the record that the amount charged per hour was reasonable (TR 508, 563-564). Except for Tim's numerous contentious filings and delays in responding to discovery requests this matter could have been concluded much sooner and at a much lower cost than that accumulated, and yet the matter continues today. The chancellor was not in error in holding Tim for Donna's legal fees.

Issue 3. The chancellor did not err in restricting Tim Craft's visitation to an hour and one-half one day per week in the office of the Department of Human Services in Laurel, Mississippi.

## Rule of Law

A chancellor's power to issue orders concerning visitation in a divorce action is legislatively authorized by statute which holds, in pertinent part, "[w]hen a divorce shall be decreed from the bonds of matrimony, the court may, in its discretion, having regard to the circumstances of the parties and the nature of the case, as may seem equitable and just, make all orders touching the care, custody and maintenance of the children of the marriage...." Miss.Code Ann. § 93-5-23. (Emphasis mine)

The best interest of the child is the main concern in determining visitation. The chancellor has discretion to fashion a visitation order to suit the child's best interest. An appellate court will afford great deference to the chancellor's visitation decision. *Rogers v. Morin*, 791 So.2d 815, 820 (Miss. 2001), cited in *McDuffie v. McDuffie*, 2008-CP-00033-COA (Miss.Ct.App. 2009).

The chancellor is charged with the responsibility of protecting children and determining both custody and visitation based on the child's best interest. R.L.N. v. C.P.N., 931 So.2d 620, 624 (Miss. 2005). Child visitation, and its limitations, is awarded at the chancellor's broad discretion. The chancellor must keep the best interest of the child as a paramount concern, while being attentive to the non-custodial parent's rights. The court should be concerned with the need for the non-custodial parent and child to maintain a healthy and loving relationship. It is within the chancellor's power to restrict visitation in situations that present an appreciable danger of hazard cognizable in our law, but these restrictions should be imposed on a limited basis. When restrictions are placed on visitation there must be evidence that the particular restriction is necessary to avoid harm to the child. A lack of this evidence will render the chancellor's restrictions on the non-custodial parent's visitation manifest error and an abuse of discretion. As with the divorce, if the record contains substantial, credible evidence to support the chancellor's decision, this Court may affirm. Cassell v. Cassell, 970 So.2d 267, 272-273 (Miss.Ct.App. 2007). Substantial evidence is such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion or to put it simply, more than a mere scintilla of evidence. R.L.N., 931 So.2d at 624.

#### Relevant Facts

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